STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 20 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

The Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Trial Judge

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner,

v.

JERALD D. GASKINS, JR.,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001072

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2013, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Gaskins for four counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, 2nd degree (2013-GS-23-3231; -3232; -3234; -3235) and two counts of lewd act upon a child (2013-GS-23-3233; -3236). (App. 518-519; 521-522; 524-525; 527-531; 533-535; 537-538). On February 4, 2015, Gaskins's case proceeded to trial before a jury with the Honorable D. Garrison Hill presiding. (App. 1). Gaskins was represented by Randall L. Chambers, Esq., and Assistant Solicitor Kristie B. Hodge of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case. (App. 1).

At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict as indicted on all charges. (App. 510-512). Judge Hill sentenced Gaskins to concurrent twenty (20) year terms of imprisonment for each of the criminal sexual conduct with a minor, 2nd degree convictions, and a concurrent fifteen (15) year term of imprisonment for one of the lewd act convictions, and a consecutive five (5) year term of imprisonment for the remaining lewd act conviction. (App. 516-517; 520; 523; 526; 532; 536; 539).

Gaskins filed a timely notice of appeal, and appellate counsel J. Falkner Wilkes, Esq. perfected the appeal. (App. 540; 583-616). The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Gaskins's convictions in a per curiam unpublished opinion pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR and supporting authorities. *State v. Gaskins*, Unpublished Op. No. 2017-UP-166 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 19, 2017). (App. 617-619). The Remittitur was issued on May 5, 2017. (App. 620).

Gaskins filed an application for post-conviction relief on September 14, 2017, amended on May 22, 2018, alleging that he is being held in custody unlawfully based on claims of prosecutorial misconduct, due process violations, and ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. 621-627, 634-643). On October 24, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Greenville County

Courthouse with the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., presiding. (App. 644). Gaskins was present and represented by C. Rauch Wise, Esq. (App. 644). The State was represented by DeShawn H. Mitchell of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. (App. 644). Judge Kinlaw issued an Order denying and dismissing the application with prejudice on February 1, 2019, filed with the Greenville County Clerk of Court on February 4, 2019. (App. 754-780). On February 19, 2019, Gaskins, through counsel, submitted a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (App. 781-788). The State submitted the Return to the motion on March 1, 2010. (App. 789-792). On March 4, 2019, Judge Kinlaw issued an Order denying Gaskins's motion to alter or amend judgement.¹ (App. 793-795).

On June 3, 2019, Gaskins filed a notice of appeal in this Court challenging the denial of his post-conviction relief application. (App. 796). C. Rauch Wise, Esq., filed the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and the Appendix on September 3, 2019, raising the following claims of error:

- I. Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?
- II. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when he failed on several occasions to object to improper hearsay testimony as to statements made by the complaining witness were improper under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
- III. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when he failed on several occasions to object to improper hearsay testimony as to statements made by the complaining witness were improper under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
- IV. Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold trial counsel to be ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper vouching for the credibility of the complaining witness?

¹ Gaskins's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment was filed with the Clerk of Court on March 8, 2019; the State's Return was filed on March 11, 2019; and the Order denying the motion was filed on March 5, 2019.

- V. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find appellate counsel was ineffective when appellate counsel admitted he knew that the South Carolina Supreme Court had granted a petition for writ of certiorari in *State v. Perez* to overturn *State v. Wallace*, but failed to disclose this fact to Jerald Gaskins prior to advising Mr. Gaskins to not file a petition for writ of certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court?

The State filed the Return to the Petition on January 2, 2020, and Gaskins filed its Reply on January 16, 2020. By Order dated January 16, 2020, this Court transferred the appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR. On March 16, 2022, the Court of Appeals denied certiorari as to Questions 2 and 5, granted Question 1 with the exception of Gaskins's allegations concerning trial counsel's handling of the cross-examination about Gaskins's drug activity, and granted as to Questions 3 and 4. It was further ordered that the parties proceed with briefing in accordance with Rule 243(j), SCACR.

On April 21, 2022, Gaskins filed the Brief of Petitioner addressing the following issues as instructed by the Court of Appeals:

- I. Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?
- II. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the expert testimony of Officer Robert Perry as to delayed disclosure when the officer had not been qualified as an expert?
- III. Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold trial counsel to be ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper vouching for the credibility of the complaining witness?

Gaskins supplemented the Appendix on July 28, 2022, and August 19, 2022. On August 22, 2022, the State filed its Brief. Gaskins submitted the Reply to the State's Brief on September 12, 2022, and the State submitted an Amended Brief on October 27, 2022. Oral argument was held

on the matter on February 13, 2024. Counsel Wise argued on behalf of Gaskins and Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General, Melody J. Brown, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office argued on behalf of the State. The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming in part, reversing in part and remanding for a new trial. *Gaskins v. State*, Unpublished Op. No. 2025-UP-046 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 5, 2025).

On February 5, 2023, Gaskins filed a Motion for Bail. The State made its Return against the motion on February 18, 2025, and Gaskins filed a reply on February 21, 2025. On February 20, 2025, the State filed a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied on May 2, 2025. The Court of Appeals also denied Gaskins's motion for bail that same day.

The State filed the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 9, 2025, and Gaskins filed the Return to the Petition on July 7, 2025. Gaskins again filed a motion for bond pending appeal on November 13, 2025. The State filed a motion opposing bond that same day and Gaskins filed the reply on November 17, 2025. No order regarding bond has been issued as of this date.

The State's Brief of Petitioner now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the spring of 2011, Respondent and his wife Rachel lived in Traveler's Rest where they met and began regularly socializing with the victim's family, the Mucienko's. (App. 62-63; 82-83; 134-135; 394-395). The family included the victim's mother and father, Sandra and Walt Mucienko, the victim's older sister, Jamie Mucienko, and the victim who was thirteen (13) years old when she met Respondent. (App. 66; 135; 186).

Over the next few months, Respondent developed a close friendship with the family, often assisting them with paying their bills, and having the victim over to his home to babysit his and Rachel's young child. (App. 65; 71-72; 272-273; 288; 323; 394-396; 415). Later on, the victim's mother discovered a phone Respondent had secretly given to the victim so that they could maintain communication after the victim's parents confiscated her original phone for receiving a bad grade. (App. 73-74; 115; 213-214; 227; 415). The victim's mother became uneasy of Respondent and the victim's close relationship and ended their contact as a result. (App. 74-75).

In November of 2012, Rachel's mother (Respondent's mother-in-law) contacted the victim's mother and provided her with information in regard to Respondent and the victim. (App. 75; 87-88; 156-157). Around this time, Respondent and Rachel were in the middle of divorce proceedings. (App. 87-88). In response to this information, the victim's mother and father asked the victim about her and Respondent's relationship, and the victim initially denied anything inappropriate occurred between her and Respondent. (App. 75-76; 228-229). However, as the conversation with her parents continued, the victim began to cry before revealing she had been sexually abused by Applicant. (App. 76-77; 228-229). The victim's mother immediately reported the sexual abuse to the authorities, and Deputy Paul Floyd of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office responded to the Mucienko home. (App. 53-54; 76-77, 89). Deputy Floyd spoke with the

victim alone and the victim disclosed she had been sexually abused by Respondent on multiple occasions over the course of more than a year. (App. 56-58).

Victim's Testimony at Trial

At trial, the victim testified to multiple occasions of sexual abuse and the substance of the conversations that took place over the course of the abuse.² The victim testified that she met Respondent when she was thirteen (13) years old at a community horseshoe tournament where Respondent gave her his phone number. (App. 185-187). Shortly after, she testified that she began visiting Respondent and Rachel's home, occasionally spending the night. (App. 187-189).

During one of the visits, Respondent asked the victim if she was a virgin before telling her that he didn't want anyone else to take her virginity and that, "If it was me, I'd make love to you and spoil you for the rest of your life." (App. 189-190). A few weeks later, when she was at Respondent and Rachel's home, the victim testified that Respondent again brought up that he would "make love and spoil [her]." (App. 192). She testified that Respondent then went to find out how long Rachel was going to be in the bath, confirmed it would be 30-45 minutes, and then initiated sexual intercourse with her. (App. 192-193). Specifically, during that incident, the victim testified Respondent removed his pants, began fondling and kissing her, and then quickly had sexual intercourse with her. (App. 193-194). Afterwards, the victim testified the two went back to playing games or sitting in the living room watching TV. (App. 194). From that point on, Respondent provided her with material small things that she requested. She testified that, "like I could ask for a candy bar, a drink, and it would just simply just be put in my hand in an instant." (App. 195). Respondent gave her "a lot of attention," and promised to give her whatever she wanted. (App. 195; 213).

² At the time of trial, the victim was 17 years old. (App. 183).

As the abuse continued, the victim testified she and Respondent engaged in sexual intercourse “over 10 times” at different homes Respondent moved to over the course of the next year and a half. (App. 197-199). She recalled an incident while Respondent and Rachel were living at Magnolia Trailer Park, where Respondent repeatedly begged her to have intercourse with him while Rachel was at her grandmother’s home with their child. (App. 198-199). She testified that she kept telling Respondent that she didn’t want to have intercourse, but he kept begging her, and she eventually became overwhelmed from his persistence and agreed to have intercourse. (App. 199). She explained a similar incident from their initial encounter, where they both were unclothed from the waist down and he inserted his penis; the entirety of the interaction lasting “maybe 10 minutes.” (App. 199). She also noted that Respondent used a condom. (App. 199).

The victim further testified that while Respondent was living in Magnolia Trailer Park, that there were other instances of sexual abuse such as oral sex, specifically Respondent putting his mouth on her vagina. (App. 200). She recounted that Rachel was again visiting her grandmother to pick up her and Respondent’s child during the incident. (App. 200). She also recounted an incident where Respondent took her with him to pick up food from Waffle House for other people in the home, and while they were waiting for the food, drove her to an abandoned house behind a gas station where they had intercourse in the back seat of his car. (App. 201-202; 216-217). She indicated that sexual intercourse in the back seat of the car happened an additional time. (App. 216).

Respondent and Rachel then moved to “Central,” and the victim testified to two incidents that occurred there. (App. 205). She recounted that Rachel was sick, and Respondent and herself took Rachel to the hospital and dropped her off. (App. 205). She testified that Respondent told Rachel to call him when she found out something. (App. 205). Respondent and the victim then

went back to the Respondent's residence where they had intercourse. (App. 205). The victim testified that they were completely unclothed, and that Respondent used "KY," a brand of lubricant, on her. (App. 205). She testified that she had to clean herself because the lubricant burned, they then both got dressed, and subsequently Respondent received a call from Rachel. (App. 205-206). Upon picking Rachel up from the hospital, Rachel told them that she was pregnant. (App. 206).

After receiving that news, the victim testified that she told herself that she wasn't going to engage with Respondent anymore because she felt that it was wrong and she had started to become fond of Rachel and their child. (App. 206). She testified that she would go over to Respondent and Rachel's home for a sense of freedom, but Respondent would persistently ask her to have intercourse, taking advantage of when Rachel was asleep. (App. 207-208). In one instance, the victim testified she had fallen asleep on the couch and woke up to Respondent laying next to her with his legs thrown over her. (App. 208). She then heard an argument between Respondent and Rachel after Rachel saw them asleep together on the couch. (App. 209-210).

The victim recalled an additional incident where Respondent told the victim and her parents that he was taking the victim to a country music concert, but the tickets were sold out so the victim's parents nor her sister would be able to attend with them. (App. 223-226). Instead of taking her to the concert, Respondent took her to "Belvue," where the victim testified that they had intercourse and "he started doing oral again, fondling, oral, same thing, everything." (App. 224-225). The victim noted that incident was her last sexual interaction with Respondent, but the relationship continued until her mother found the phone Respondent had secretly given her, and she eventually revealed the sexual abuse when confronted by her parents. (App. 227-229).

Friend's Testimony at Trial

The State presented the victim's friend, hereinafter "friend," who testified to enduring a similar pattern of abuse from Respondent. The friend testified that she was fourteen (14) years old when she met Respondent in the Spring of 2011 while visiting the Mucienko family home for a horseshoe tournament.³ (App. 308). Upon initially meeting Respondent, the friend testified that he was immediately flirtatious with her, and the two exchanged phone numbers later that afternoon. (App. 310). She testified that Respondent would text her on Facebook asking her to "meet up and stuff," and had begun to give her special attention (App. 310-311).

The friend testified that when she went over to Respondent's home for a cookout, Respondent took her to a back room and they began talking and kissing, which lasted about 20 or 30 minutes. (App. 312). She testified that she had two more sexual encounters with Respondent. (App. 313). She recounted that Respondent had picked her up and took her to his house when no one was at his home, and they had intercourse on the bed. (App. 313). He then took her back home. (App. 314). She also recounted a sexual encounter where Respondent took her to an abandoned house and wanted to have intercourse in his car, but that she was not comfortable with the situation. (App. 314). She testified that Respondent "got his wife's clothes and laid them on the bottom of the floor inside the house. And I had tried to get on my knees, but there was broken glass in there. So it was about five minutes or six minutes of a sexual encounter." (App. 315).

She recounted that they had intercourse one more time a few weeks later in his house, and during that interaction she told Respondent that she was uncomfortable and did not want to do it anymore. (App. 316). She testified that Respondent told her that it was okay that she was uncomfortable because she was a child and could not process like an adult. (App. 316). She

³ The friend was eighteen (18) years old at the time of trial. (App. 306).

testified that Respondent then told her that “he was going to go after [the victim] next.” (App. 317).

Rachel’s (Respondent’s Ex-Wife) Testimony at Trial

At the outset of her testimony, Rachel indicated she met Respondent, who was twenty-six (26) years old at the time, in September of 2008 when she was a (17) year-old high school student. (App. 131). She testified that Respondent convinced her to move in with him within two weeks of meeting, and they got married less than a year later. (App. 132-134; 175-176). As to their marriage, Rachel testified that Respondent was abusive and manipulative toward her, and that he forced her to make a false allegation of sexual abuse against her father that she subsequently recanted. (App. 143-44; 165-166; 175; 178-179).

Rachel confirmed she and Respondent became friends with the Mucienko family after meeting them at a horseshoe tournament in March of 2011. (App. 134). She confirmed that the victim began regularly visiting their home, sometimes spent the night, and that Respondent would pick the victim up from volleyball practice and go to her school events. (App. 137-139). Rachel testified that she became uncomfortable about the relationship and confronted Respondent, who reacted angrily. (App. 138). Rachel further recalled instances where Respondent and the victim were alone together numerous times during her visits, and she recounted on one occasion she found them lying on a couch together in the middle of the night with Respondent’s leg draped over the victim’s legs. (App. 148). After finding them in that position, Rachel confronted Respondent and he became very threatening. (App. 149). Subsequently, Rachel testified that Respondent kicked her out of the home and eventually filed for divorce. (App. 152-154). Rachel eventually revealed her concerns about Respondent and the victim’s relationship to the victim’s mother and Investigator Perry. (App. 157-59).

Applicant's Testimony at Trial

Applicant denied any relationship or sexual involvement with the victim. (App. 421-422). He denied the details of the sexual encounters the victim described in her testimony, and testified that he regularly saw the Mucienko family and that the victim would babysit his and Rachel's child. (App. 395-396). After the victim began visiting, Applicant acknowledged she spent the night at his home on some occasions, but he claimed she was never alone with him and she simply played with his daughter, played video games, and talked to her friends on the internet. (App. 398-399). Respondent further testified that he tried to keep witnesses around him all the time to verify his innocence because he had been accused of many things during his lifetime. (App. 400-401; 440).

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