RECEIVED

Dec 12 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
The Hon. D. Garrison Hill, Trial Judge
The Hon. Alex Kinlaw, Jr. PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001072

State..... Petitioner,

v.

Jerald D. Gaskins, Jr. Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
S.C. Bar No. 6188

Attorney for Respondent

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

Q. (By Ms. Hodge) Would you call that a normal examine or - -

A. (By Dr. Croswell) It was a normal examine.

Q. All right. And what makes something a normal exam versus an abnormal

⁴ The court of appeals did not rule Mr. Gaskins was entitled to relief on the issue of the text messages allegedly being made between Mr. Gaskins and the sister of the complaining witness. The basis for the holding was the issue was not preserved for review because PCR counsel did file a specific Rule 59e as to this issue as the PCR court did not rule on the issue. The holding by the court of appeals does not prevent this court from recognizing that based upon the testimony at the PCR hearing and an analysis of the messages, even this evidence against Mr. Gaskins is highly suspect. APP. at 666, l 21 to 676, l 24.

exam?

A. So, at times, there can be physical findings that would indicate trauma of some sort, either bruising or abrasions of some sort, either bruising or abrasions. The hymenal tissue is a tissue that partially covers the entrance into vaginal canal. At times there can be a laceration or either what we call transection when a tearing of the hymen has healed. All of those areas looked normal in [complaining witness] APP. at 339, 1 17 to 340, 1 2.

In reversing a case where there is no physical evidence and the case turned on the credibility of the parties involved, this court has said, “[T]he outcomes of Petitioner’s jury trial hinged on Victim’s credibility, and there was otherwise an absence of overwhelming evidence of guilt.” *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 249, 814 S.E.2d 487, 494 (2018). This court concluded, “The properly admitted evidence of Petitioner’s guilt was not strong enough to overcome trial counsel’s failure to object to Dr. Benedetto’s inadmissible bolstering testimony.” *Id.* at 250, 814 S.E.2d at 495. The evidence in this case is not strong enough to overcome the failure of trial counsel to object to numerous improper attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins. *See, also, Vail v. State*, 402 S.C. 77, 91, 738 S.E.2d 503, 511 (Ct. App. 2013)(“In light of the circumstantial evidence presented to the jury in addition to the heavy emphasis on Victim’s credibility, we cannot find the admission of the inadmissible hearsay was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). As noted above, the State, in closing, placed special emphasis on the credibility of the complaining witness as opposed to the credibility of Mr. Gaskins.

In reversing a criminal sexual conduct with a minor case because of the improper closing argument of the State, this court said, “Similarly, given the lack of physical evidence, the solicitor’s emotional plea that Tappeiner was a bad actor and could not be trusted to watch the jurors’ own family members is reasonably likely to have had a

substantially stronger impact than would be the case in a trial where there was additional, independent evidence of the defendant's guilt." *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 253–54, 785 S.E.2d 471, 478 (2016). In the present case, the failure to object to the numerous attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins was also likely to have had a substantially greater impact with the jury than if there had been other proof of Mr. Gaskins' guilt. The State completely failed to introduce the actual Facebook or text messages the State claimed were exchanged between Mr. Gaskins and at least two of the witnesses. The State even suggested one exchange was just two weeks before trial. APP. at 458, ll 21-22. Even with this alleged current exchange, the State failed to document the alleged message.

In reversing another case where the case turned on the credibility of the complaining witness, this court said, "There was no physical evidence presented in this case. The only evidence presented by the State was the children's accounts of what occurred and other hearsay evidence of the children's accounts. Because the children's credibility was the most critical determination of this case, we find the admission of the written reports was not harmless." *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94–95 (2011). "Error which substantially damages the defendant's credibility cannot be held harmless where such credibility is essential to his defense." *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Similarly, in this case the most critical determination was the credibility of the complaining witness and Mr. Gaskins. The State in closing argued this was the critical determination. The improper attacks on Mr. Gaskins' credibility were not harmless.

In *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 333, 806 S.E.2d 713, 722 (2017), this court said, “On one hand, there was no physical evidence any sexual abuse occurred, and thus the victim’s credibility was very important. Singleton testified the case ‘turned on the credibility of the little girl,’ and he told his client ‘it would come down to whether they believed her or not.’” The State at trial made the same argument to the jury in this case.

Finally, in *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 574 (2018) this court reversed a criminal sexual conduct with a minor as to hearsay testimony by a doctor who testified for the State. This court noted, “The State highlighted the testimony of Dr. Simmons, calling him as the first witness and emphasizing the importance of his testimony in determining credibility for a case that lacked any physical evidence.” *Id.* at 566, 816 S.E.2d at 574. As to the prejudice of the hearsay statement, this court said, “It is simply a bridge too far to conclude that Dr. Simmons’ improper testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* at 567, 816 S.E.2d at 574. In this case, it is also a bridge too far to believe the improper and unobjected to attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This is especially true now that the Post Conviction Relief hearing has proven several of the accusations by the State of Mr. Gaskins lying are simply not true. Inadmissible prejudicial evidence is still not admissible even though it true. Here, we have inadmissible evidence some of which has been proven to be false. A fact beyond dispute in this case is that Mr. Gaskins told the truth when he said he did not text the father of the complaining witness. The State in closing argued Mr. Gaskins lied about this text exchange.

The court of appeals correctly held this evidence was not admissible and that the

State has failed to show the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, was not prejudicial to Jerald Gaskins. The State bears the burden of proving the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. “[W]e held that ‘before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.’ The State bears the burden of proving that an error passes muster under this standard.” *Brecht v. Abrahamson*, 507 U.S. 619, 630(1993). *See, also, Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 26 (1967)(“Under these circumstances, it is completely impossible for us to say that the State has demonstrated, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the prosecutor’s comments and the trial judge’s instruction did not contribute to petitioners’ convictions.”). The State in this case has not demonstrated the attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In an attempt to claim the evidence is overwhelming, the State argues on appeal that the uncorroborated claim of the 404b witness is sufficient to make the evidence overwhelming. This is not the type of evidence this Court has typically accepted to make the evidence attacking the credibility harmless. Again, the State never documented any alleged text exchange with this witness, even though the State suggested one text message occurred just two weeks before the trial. APP. 458, APP. 1 21 to 459, 1 6.

In arguing the lack of prejudice, the State has urged, “In making the prejudice determination, a court must ‘consider the totality of the evidence before the jury.’” BOP at 15. In looking at the totality of the evidence, this would include the unobjected to prejudicial evidence even if the court of appeals did not rule on the issue. This court simply cannot wear blinders as

to all the prejudicial evidence elicited by the solicitor to which trial counsel raised no objection.⁵ As noted previously, this is especially now that the Post Conviction Relief hearing has established that Mr. Gaskins was truthful when he denied sending any text messages to the father of the complaining witness.

Question II

Did the Court of Appeals err in rendering an isolated prejudice analysis of the State’s line of questioning regarding the no contact order by overlooking the evidence that supported the verdict including testimony that supported the verdict, including testimony that hindered Respondent’s credibility prior to any reference of the no contact order?

The State contends that the court of appeals erred in overlooking “the reliability of the trial process as a whole in determining that counsel’s alleged error was prejudicial.” The “reliability of the trial process as a whole” has to include all the unobjected to prejudicial questions asked, whether the court of appeals agreed to review them or not. Neither this court nor the court of appeals can ignore facts unfavorable to the State under the guise of reviewing the trial process as a whole simply because the court of appeals elected not to review certain issues.

The State appears to have conceded that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the improper questions the assistant solicitor asked about the criminal domestic violence charges and the alleged restraining order against him. The assistant solicitor improperly cross-examined Mr. Gaskins about pending charges of criminal domestic violence. APP. at 449, 1 22 to 451, 1 16. As part of this cross-examination, which the court of appeals found to be improper,

⁵ This court should also take note that the assistant solicitor in this case is the same assistant solicitor who created the problem causing the reversal of a conviction in *Swofford v. State*, Op. No. 2025-UP-294 (S.C.Ct.App. dated Aug. 13, 2025)

the assistant solicitor placed her credibility against Mr. Gaskins. She asked the following:

Q. (By Ms. Hodge) And have you been instructed by our office that that case is not dropped and you are not to have contact with her?

A. (By Mr. Gaskins) Ma'am, I was told it was dismissed. So I don't know what's going on with it - -

Q. Who were you told by?

A. I guess your office.

Q. No, sir. No one from my office - -

A. Well, then - -

Q. - - who were you told by - -

A. - - I have no idea - -

APP. at 450, 1 22 to 451, 1 7.

Had trial counsel made the proper objections, the State would not have been able to claim Mr. Gaskins lied about a lot of things. The assistant solicitor would not have been able to pit her credibility against Mr. Gaskins and in effect tell the jury, "I know the charges are not dismissed and he is lying." The South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct states a lawyer should not "assert personal knowledge of facts in issue except when testifying as a witness, or state a personal opinion as to the justness of a cause, the credibility of a witness, the culpability of a civil litigant or the guilt or innocence of an accused" S.C. App. Ct. R. RULE 407 RPC 3.4. The cross-examination in this case violated that rule. Trial counsel should have made a timely objection.

Furthermore, this court has held on numerous occasions that a solicitor may not pit the credibility of the defendant against other witnesses. This court has said, "Once again, in the present case, we are compelled to reverse a conviction because the assistant solicitor forced Brown to attack the veracity of the investigating officers by inquiring whether the officers 'made the story up' about Brown's participation. The assistant solicitor compounded her error by challenging Brown that his 'made up' story was 'pretty convenient,' which pitted his testimony

another time against that of the officers.” *State v. Brown*, 297 S.C. 27, 29, 374 S.E.2d 669, 670 (1988). How much more is this true when the solicitor implied to the jury she knew Mr. Gaskins was lying about when she was cross-examining Mr. Gaskins about the dismissal of the charges.

The State has argued that because other witnesses attacked Mr. Gaskins credibility, this error was harmless. The other witnesses had reasons to be against Mr. Gaskins. The same cannot be said for the prosecutor. As the United States Supreme Court has said about the attitude of jurors toward prosecutors, “Consequently, improper suggestions, insinuations, and, especially, assertions of personal knowledge are apt to carry much weight against the accused when they should properly carry none.” *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). The improper suggestion by the prosecutor that she knew Mr. Gaskins was lying about the dismissal of the charges, easily could have had a greater impact on the jury than witnesses that the jury could perceive as having a bias against Mr. Gaskins.

Furthermore, as this Court has said, “Error which substantially damages the defendant’s credibility cannot be held harmless where such credibility is essential to his defense.” *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Here, the credibility of Mr. Gaskins was the only defense.

As previously noted, the assistant solicitor in her closing argument admitted the case turned on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins and the complaining witnesses. This court has in numerous cases held attacks on the credibility of the defendant or improper vouching or bolstering of the complaining witness is sufficient to overturn the conviction.

While the cases cited in the first issue suggest that the State has the burden of proving that the prejudice to Mr. Gaskins is not harmless, this court need not address that issue under the

facts of this case. The facts show that the credibility of Mr. Gaskins was not only attacked improperly, but in some cases was attacked with accusations that are now known to be false. These facts are more than sufficient to invoke the numerous cases cited herein that the attacks were improper and prejudicial.

The State had put forth no reason why those cases should now be overturned, repudiated or limited. Simply put, the State has put forth no valid reason for this court to overturn the opinion of the court of appeals

Cumulative errors

As to cumulative error, this court has said, “Respondent must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal on this ground. Instead, the errors must adversely affect his right to a fair trial.” *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999). In this case several improper attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins were made by the State. In its brief the State appears to argue the attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins were improper. The State only suggests that the improper attacks on credibility were not prejudicial or more precisely, even if prejudicial, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As to an individual improper attack on credibility, the State may have some argument, even if the cases decided by this court hold otherwise. But if all the improper attacks on credibility are combined, the improper attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins become overwhelmingly prejudicial and not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In making the determination of prejudice, this court should not ignore the texts with the father. While the court of appeals ruled the error in failing to object to the texts claimed to have been with the father was not error, they noted, as they should, that the Post Conviction relief hearing established that Mr. Gaskins was truthful when he denied on cross-

examination he had sent text messages to the father of the complaining witness.⁶ The record at the PCR hearing also established the claim by the State that Mr. Gaskins sent text messages to the sister of the complaining witness, is highly questionable. These facts established by the record simply should not be ignored by this court in making a determination as to whether the errors were prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. The cumulative effect of these attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins is simply devastating. This court should not fail to recognize the cumulative affect of these attacks on the credibility of Mr. Gaskins. To do so, would be the equivalent of saying “a death by a thousand cuts” is not murder because no one cut would have caused the death.⁷

Additional Sustaining Grounds

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